1950

Mamie Ure Baker v. Richard Mills Baker : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This is an appeal from a decree entered in the District Court of Weber County, State of Utah, on the 27th day of September, 1949, finding the appellant in contempt of court, modifying the decree entered between the parties to the above entitled action on the 30th day of June, 1948, and making other orders relating to the rights of the above named parties and their two minor children (Tr. pages 062-063).

In the decree of divorce entered June 30, 1948, the care, custody and control of Joan Carol Baker and Jean Baker, the two minor daughters, then five and three years of age respectively, were awarded to their mother, the appellant, subject to the right of visitation of the respondent at all reasonable times and places. The respondent was ordered to pay to the appellant at the office of the clerk of the court the sum of \$50.00 per month for the support and maintenance of each child,

or the total sum of \$100.00 per month, payable \$50.00 on the 10th day and \$50.00 on the 25th day of each month beginning with July, 1948 (Tr. 021-022).

A complete settlement of the property rights between the parties was made through an award of certain property to the appellant, and she was given no award whatever for alimony (Tr. 021-023).

In the pleadings for modification, reference is made to alimony for the appellant, but that is a misstatement. The hearing was conducted on the theory that all rights between the parties were settled at the time of the divorce, and the respondent was ordered to make payments for the support of the minor children only.

In the Findings of Fact and Decree as originally entered, the Court found that the respondent is an able bodied man capable of earning \$300.00 or more per month, and fully employed (Tr. 018). In the findings used as the basis for the decree and order herein appealed from, the court found that the respondent is still employed and now receives take-home-pay of \$350.00 to \$400.00 per month (Tr. 095). In the respondent's own testimony given at the hearing for modification, he admitted that at the time of the hearing he was earning approximately \$400.00 per month (B. of Ex. 5), and that the award for the support of the children was based not upon the property owned by the respondent at the time the decree was entered, but upon his earnings (B. of Ex. 6). There was no claim that the sum of \$100.00 for the support of the two minor children is more than they need, or that it constitutes a

burden upon the respondent, who has no other dependents. The claim for reduction was made solely upon the ground that the children had been taken to the state of Oregon where it was difficult for the respondent to visit them. There is no claim at all that the welfare of the children is not promoted through the change of residence to Oregon, or is there any claim whatsoever that the appellant is anything but a kind and exemplary mother, fully deserving of the custody of the children, and one who cares properly for the children. An additional fact is that the respondent at the time of the filing of his petition for modification was admittedly in arrears \$350.00, and at the time the appellant cited him into court he owed an additional \$100.00. Furthermore, he had refused to pay \$250.00 attorneys' fees and costs in the sum of \$56.20 awarded under the original decree (B. of Ex. 10). There is no express provision in the decree against the removal of the children from the State of Utah. For findings in original action see Tr. 017-018.

In the fall of 1948, the appellant sold her property in Weber County and purchased property in Nyssa, Oregon, where she could live in the same community with and receive assistance from her sisters and daughters (B. of Ex. 20 and 24). When the respondent failed to make payments under the terms of the decree, the appellant caused him to be cited into court and thereby initiated the proceedings resulting in this appeal.

The court in the decree appealed from found the respondent in contempt only because of his failure to pay the \$250.00 attorneys' fees and costs awarded under the original decree, and permitted him to purge himself

from contempt by paying the amounts due for attorneys' fees and costs (Tr. 062-063). Although the respondent was admittedly in arrears in the sum of \$100.00 at the time the appellant left the State of Utah and moved to Oregon in November, 1948, and was in arrears an additional \$350.00 before he made any application for a modification of the decree, the court did not find him in contempt on those items. However, the court found the appellant in contempt for removing the children from the State of Utah without the consent of the court, and in effect fined her \$350.00 and rewarded the respondent to the extent of \$350.00 by holding that the appellant could not collect the \$350.00 past due and unpaid at the time the respondent applied for modification. The court further reduced the amounts payable to the children from \$50.00 each to \$30.00 each per month and refused to modify the decree so as to expressly give consent for the appellant to keep the children in Oregon, although by implication such consent is found in the decree. The reduction in effect is an additional punitive measure against the mother for taking the children to Oregon.

STATEMENT OF POINTS RELIED UPON FOR REVERSAL OR MODIFICATION OF THE JUDGMENT OF THE DISTRICT COURT.

It is the contention of the appellant that the court erred in modifying the original decree herein reducing the amount payable by the respondent for the support of the children from \$100.00 to \$60.00 per month because no change of circumstances sufficient to warrant said modification was shown. If anything respondent's

earning power has improved since the entry of the original decree. In the second place, the trial court erred in holding the appellant in contempt because the record does not show any intentional violation of a court order. As a matter of fact, there was no express or direct order of the court prohibiting or forbidding the removal of the children from this state. In the third place, the court erred in that it exceeded its jurisdiction in imposing the penalty which was levied against the appellant. In the fourth place, the court erred in depriving the appellant of her right to collect the accrued installments for the support of the children, and allowing the respondent to keep the money in question, and in hearing respondent on his petition for modification while he was in default under the decree. Furthermore, the court erred by taking from the children the money awarded to them under the guise of punishing the mother for contempt. The court erred in granting respondent relief for period before respondent applied to court for modification, and in not giving appellant an opportunity to purge herself from contempt if she were in contempt. The court further erred in refusing to modify the decree so as to give the appellant the express right to change the residence of the children to the State of Oregon when it appears that the move was for the best interest of the children.

The court erred in refusing to enter the findings of fact, conclusions of law and decree submitted by the appellant because they were the only findings, conclusions and decree supported by the evidence.

The court erred in rejecting the evidence offered by the appellant concerning the unfitness of the respondent to be alone with the two minor daughters.

POINT I

THE COURT ERRED IN MODIFYING THE DECREE REDUCING THE AMOUNT OF MONTHLY PAYMENTS TO BE MADE FOR THE SUPPORT OF THE CHILDREN BECAUSE NO CHANGE IN CIRCUMSTANCES SUFFICIENT TO WARRANT MODIFICATION WAS SHOWN.

In *Cody v. Cody*, 47 Utah 456 at 469, the court held that “under the statute, when judicial action is properly invoked, the court, as to orders which relate to alimony, custody of children, and awards for their support, when they are continuing and over which the court retains a continuing jurisdiction, is authorized on a proper showing to modify the decree in such particulars. *But a further essential to such relief, and which is universally agreed upon, is that there must be averments and proof of a change of circumstances or conditions of the parties . . .*”

The Utah court enlarged upon this statement in *Chaffee v. Chaffee*, 63 Utah 261, at 269, by holding “ . . . In 7 Std. Ency. of Proc. at Page 843, in speaking of proceedings to modify a decree of divorce, it is said: ‘A further essential to such relief which is universally agreed upon is that there must be a change of circumstances, or newly discovered facts to warrant such relief, or it cannot be granted.’

“In *Shouler on Divorce* (6th Ed.) Vol. 2, Sec. 1831, the author says: ‘Modification can only be ordered on proof of change of conditions, as the decree is final as to conditions existing at the time, and a slight change is not enough to warrant modification.’ ”

Still again the Supreme Court of Utah held in *Rockwood v. Rockwood*, 65 Utah at 268 and 269, “ . . . The duty of the father to support his children, if he is able to do so, is imposed in this state by positive statute. It would be his duty in any event if there were no statute upon the subject. Defendant has not shown, either in his affidavit or evidence, that he is less able now to contribute to the support of his children than he was when the original decree was entered. He has not shown that the mother of the children is able to support them, and, even if he had, it is not clear that such fact would alter the case. He has not shown that the children now require less for their support than when the decree was entered. In fact, the court will take judicial notice that the children are still mere infants, dependent entirely upon someone else for their maintenance and support.”

The *Rockwood* case presented substantially the same situation as the instant case. There is here no showing of change in the circumstances that existed at the time of the divorce decree except that the children are no longer in the state of Utah. The father's earnings are now better than at the time of the decree.

The original findings were that the “defendant is a strong, able-bodied man, capable of earning \$300.00 or more per month (Tr. 018).

In the proceedings appealed from the respondent testified and the court found that the “Defendant receives at the present time “take home pay” of approximately \$350.00 to \$400.00 per month, the amount varying” (Tr. 059).

Under the Utah decisions above cited it is clear beyond question that this is not a case where change of

circumstances will support a modification of the decree. The modification is just an additional penal measure used against the appellant to the substantial detriment of the children.

POINT II

THE COURT ERRED IN FINDING APPELLANT GUILTY OF CONTEMPT AND EXCEEDED ITS JURISDICTION BY IMPOSING THE PENALTIES LEVIED AGAINST HER.

Obviously, a person must be guilty of some definite act or omission before he can be found in contempt of court. Then if a person is found in contempt, the penalties imposed must be in accordance with law and not arbitrary.

It is provided by statute in our state that "The following acts or omissions in respect to a court of justice or proceedings therein are contempts of the authority of the court: . . ." (U.C.A. 1943, 104-45-1). Thereafter are set forth acts or omissions which constitute contempt. It is necessary, under this statute, for a person to have committed one of the acts required in order to be guilty of contempt. Such a statute as this is exclusive and it is a definite requirement for a contempt finding to be made that it be made on one of the twelve subdivisions of this statute.

The only subdivision of this section which has any application to the instant case is subdivision 5. It reads as follows, to-wit: "Disobedience of any lawful judgment, order of process of the court." The finding of contempt on the part of the appellant is that she "has

wilfully deprived defendant of the right to visit with his children at reasonable times and places, and has rendered it impossible for defendant to see his said children at or near his place of residence, or within this state, since a date prior to November 25, 1948 . . .” Tr. 062).

There was no court order expressly prohibiting the appellant from removing the minor children of the parties from the State of Utah. The decree stated only that the children “Be and they are hereby awarded to the plaintiff, subject to the right of visitation in the defendant at all reasonable times and places” (Tr. 021). She violated no “lawful judgment, order or process of the court”, therefore, when she took the children to Oregon.

The same situation was before the Alabama court in *Ex Parte Vaughn*, 87 So. 792. The divorce decree awarded a minor child to the mother in these words, “It is further ordered, adjudged and decreed by the court that the care, custody and control of William Dudley Vaughn . . . be and hereby is given to the complainant, with the right of the respondent to see and visit said child at such reasonable times and places as will not interfere with the proper control of said child by complainant. . . .” Both parties remarried. Complainant took the minor child to live in New York without getting a court order permitting her so to do. On a petition by the respondent for custody of the child the complainant demurred. The respondent had the demurrer stricken on the grounds that complainant was in contempt for having taken the child out of the state without a court order. The court held, “Here the

petitioner was awarded the custody of her infant child, and given the right to again contract marriage, with nothing in the decree either directly or indirectly, prohibiting her living in other jurisdictions outside of the state of Alabama, and the right of respondent to visit the child was prescribed for such reasonable times and places as would not interfere with the proper control by complainant. It has been held that the charge of contempt cannot be established for failure to comply with uncertain orders or judgments. 9 Cyc. 11. We think it very clear that petitioner here could not be punished for contempt for disobedience of an order of the court, as was alleged in the motion. . .

“Moreover, in cases of this character it must be recalled that the welfare of the child is of paramount importance, and it may be seriously questioned that a parent when not in willful contempt should be deprived of the right to interpose a defense as to its custody, when brought into court for such purpose by the opposing parent.”

The court here recognizes that the welfare of the children of the parties is being best served by their being in Oregon. Otherwise the court would have had no choice but to have ordered them returned to its jurisdiction in Utah. No such order was made or requested. Tacit recognition is given to our claim that the welfare of the children is best subserved by the appellant in continuing their presence in Oregon by the fact that no finding was made that their welfare would be furthered through their return to Utah.

There is no violation of a court order involved in the finding of contempt against appellant unless it be

that the court found appellant guilty of contempt for failure to allow respondent to visit the children in Utah. The evidence on this point is to the effect that respondent made little effort to see the children for substantial periods of time (Tr. p. 21) and that when he did come his presence upset the children and "made them nervous and irritable" (Tr. p. 22). The welfare of the children once more would demand that they not be upset. Stability and confidence are needed by children of their ages and emotional upsets are clearly contrary to their well-being. Furthermore, there could be no basis for a finding of contempt while appellant resided in Utah because there was no express order of the court violated by appellant.

The view that taking the children out of the state of original jurisdiction without a court order, when there is no express prohibition in the decree of divorce against it, will not constitute contempt is given added authority in the case of *Barnes v. Lee*, 275 P. 661, an Oregon case. A divorce was granted in Oklahoma. Custody of the child was awarded to the father subject to the right of the mother to visit the child at proper times and places and also to have it visit her for one month in each year during school vacation. The father moved to Oregon and took the child with him. The mother attempted to regain custody in Oklahoma and got a court order in that court for custody. This Oklahoma order was then presented to the Oregon court asking that it be enforced, but the Oregon court said, "There was not disobedience of the order of the Oklahoma court in Lee's coming to this state and bringing the child with him, as long as there was no provision

in the order that she was not to be taken from the state. Concerning this feature in the case, in *Stetson v. Stetson*, 80 Me. 483, 485, A. 60, 61; it is said: 'That the result of the decree may cause the removal of the child beyond the limits of the state, is not of itself an objection. This may be the effect in any case. Though the parent receiving the custody may at the time be a resident within the state, there is no authority, except in cases of crime, to prevent an immediate removal.'

"Although the foregoing may be stating the rule rather strongly, we are clearly of the opinion that, unless either the terms of the decree or its necessary implications forbids the removal of the child from the state, there is no violation of the order."

In the instant case it would be necessary for the court to torture words to the extent of saying that the "necessary implications forbid the removal of the child from the state" in order to have grounds for a contempt holding. That the right of reasonable visitation, as applied by the court of this state, goes that far is straining far past the meaning of the words.

The annotation in 88 A.L.R. at 200 cites the case of *Campbell v. Campbell*, 37 Wis. 206, as follows: "In *Campbell v. Campbell* . . . it was held that where the judgment of divorce awarded the custody of the child of the parties to the wife, reserving to the husband the right to visit it once a week, but did not expressly prohibit the wife from taking the child to another jurisdiction for good cause did not constitute even a technical contempt of court, and did not bar her from obtaining

a modification of the decree for alimony in her favor as provided by statute, or from recovering the alimony already accrued.”

This decision is in line with our thinking that the right of reasonable visitation is not violated by the removal of the children from the state in the absence of an express or implied order of the court not to remove children from its jurisdiction, and that if they are removed there is no taint of contempt in the removal. The removal of the children from the state in the instant case was a reasonable exercise of the right of control by the appellant. She acted as she felt the best good of the children required (Tr. P. 20).

In the absence of an express provision in the divorce decree or in the statutes of this state, it was not contempt of the court for the mother to whom custody was awarded to remove the minor children awarded to her from the jurisdiction. Even where such a practice is frowned upon, the husband is not relieved of his duty to support the children because they are no longer in the state, and his right of visitation has been circumscribed. At common law and by statutory enactment in many states it was and is the duty of the father to support his minor children.

The Supreme Court of Michigan in *Kane vs. Kane*, 216 N. W. 438, pointed out the problem in saying, “Access to the child by the parent denied custody is an important right. It is recognized that awarding custody to a non-resident parent may render the privilege of visitation impracticable in many cases. That privilege is not an absolute right, but one which must yield to

the good of the child. *Waldref v. Waldref*, 159 N.W. 1068; *Bedolfe v. Bedolfe*, 127 P. 594; 19 C. J. 348. Its feasible exercise should be safeguarded by the decree, but only to the extent it may be done without opposing the best interest of the child. Where the proofs are convincing, the welfare of the child demands that course be taken, its custody may and should be awarded to the non-resident parent, notwithstanding the effect may be the defeat of visitation by the resident parent.

“That a father is deprived of access to his child by a divorce decree does not relieve him from obligation to support it. Whether he is refused the right of visitation because found unfit, or its exercise is obstructed by permitting the residence of the child in a foreign jurisdiction, he may nevertheless be charged with its maintenance. A contrary rule would be preposterous. It would mean that a husband and a father, who applied for and obtained a divorce in this state from his wife residing with their child, in for example a country of Europe, or against whom a divorce is granted on the cross-bill of the nonresident wife is to be relieved of all obligation to contribute to the support of the infant unless it is brought across the ocean to facilitate his right of visitation.”

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