1950

Mamie Ure Baker v. Richard Mills Baker : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

in testimony, as well as any undisputed pleading and evidence from respondent to see how far the record supported the Court's determination. It is admitted, as we have noted in our Statement of Facts, that Mrs. Baker left with the children, about November 25th, 1948, shortly after an occasion when respondent had requested permission to take the children to see his dying mother on the following day: She was gone when he came there, she says he was not seen there again with the children. Prior to that time she had already sold her Utah property and bought the property in Nyssa. At Nyssa she had two daughters by a former marriage and other relatives and friends. The record of visitations between respondent and his children after the divorce has been noted. On these points:

Just what was said by Mrs. Baker as to the reasons for her secret, furtive departure from the state with the children? That she apprehended that it was contrary to rights existing under the divorce decree is evident from her statement: (B. of E. 20):

“If I had been given time, I would have got a court order to go there.”

An explanation of her meaning as to time is given in her direct testimony as follows:

“No, only he made it so miserable for us. We decided that when my daughter here she got a place, we just pulled out and left him, after he had kicked up such a fuss against us, threatened my mother, threatened to knock her block off, one thing and another.” (B. of E. 27).

Later on cross examination, she was asked what she meant as to getting a court order, but answered instead, repeating this excuse:

“Well I don’t really know what I had in mind. I just made up my mind I was going to get out of here as soon as I could. I couldn’t stand his abuse—when he started on my mother I made up my mind.” (B. of E. 30)

These threats, appellant’s only explanation of her bolting with the children, were made as she pleads (Trs. 043) after she had left the home with the children, so her evidence in pure hearsay. The mother was not called to testify. Respondent denied any threats, except (B. of E. 37) that he told Mrs. Baker’s mother that “he ought to call the cops and send them after them” when he found his children missing—hardly one warranting flight unless the fugitive intended to abscond from the state.

That such removal had its motive in a desire to separate the children from any contacts with their father seems clear. True she denied that she had attempted to estrange the children from their father (B. of E. 24) but she testified (B. of E. 22) that on the visits respondent always raised a disturbance, that whenever he came to visit, she or her mother remained in the room (B. of E. 31), that he had told her mother (B. of E. 30), when she interfered in an argument between the parents as to the children “to keep out of it”, that her own temper was quick and (B. of E. 31) she “got riled up”, so that his visits were ever the cause of a contention which the children heard, and didn’t like, respondent on such occasions losing his temper and using profane language.

Mr. Baker testified (B. of E. 35) as to this that Mrs. Baker’s mother “stayed in there like a cop” every time he visited, listened to what was said, and that he

resented it, but that he had not called names and (B. of E. 36) had been very careful of his conduct at all of his visits. He did not deny that the visits were the occasion for continual contention between himself and Mrs. Baker and the latter's mother.

As to the effect of all this on the children, Mrs. Baker testified:

“They would just stand and look at him. They don't seem to know what to do. He never gave them any love before, they cannot very well go to him now. He misses them, he naturally misses them, but they haven't any love there. I don't know how they could have.” (B. of E. 27)
“He made them nervous and irritable, because he started a row with me on account of taking them out.—He always wanted to take them out so as to be able to get a picture, he would have some silly thing like that.” (B. of E. 22).

It seems not to have occurred to this custodian that espionage upon her ex-husband's visits to his children would result in just what he saw. Children do not show their affection to the parent who had left the home while under the watchful eye of the parent who has control over their lives. Of course, they didn't “know what to do” and “would just stand” there. Appellant saw, in the attempts of respondent to get his children out door, where they might talk without restraint, and his wanting to “get a picture” just some “silly thing”. Her true attitude towards his visits, her belief that they were useless as well as bothersome, her callous attitude towards the father's yearnings for his children are illustrated by this, as well as by her testimony that on her last visit to Ogden, as well as on her previous

two, she had not brought the children (B. of E. 29) because when she asked if they wanted to come, they had said they did not; and also by her statement (B. of E. 25) that she would be willing to have him call and visit them, "in the presence of some one else."

Not only does this attitude throw light upon the reasons for her taking the children from the state, it tends to negative her excuse that the welfare of her children is the reason for her taking, and keeping the children in Oregon.

Her only direct testimony, on this point (B. of E. 23) is,

"Well they are close to the school's activity and they are happy. They weren't happy with him. They don't even know that he exists."

She then gave an affirmative response to a question if the children were happier in Nyssa than in Ogden.

There is no evidence that the schools in Nyssa are more accessible, nor better equipped as to staff or facilities than those left behind in Ogden. No considerations of healthier climate are urged. No special facilities for the education, the moral upbringing or any other phase of life which would make Nyssa better for the children appears. The only change in the atmosphere surrounding them of any note is the inability of respondent to see them often. True, when Mrs. Baker sold her property in Utah and bought the Nyssa home, it became very much to her interest to change her residence,—but the motive for her sale and purchase still is rooted in the desire to get the children away from the vicinity of the respondent.

Where weighty considerations of the welfare of children exist, they take precedence over convenience of visiting by parents who have not custody, but the right of visitation is a very important right, it sounds not only in the natural affections of parents, but in the fact that parenthood is not a matter for one sex only, and that children can learn much from both of their progenitors. Such a right yields only to "the most compelling and exceptional circumstances", (Williams v. Williams, 148 So. 358), giving reasons why the welfare of the children must be first considered. And its violations, as we shall see, is one which may give rise to loss of custody, a well as punishment for contempt.

We think the record supports the Court's findings as the matters essential to the disposition of this dispute.

The foregoing cover the general objection (Br. 27) to the findings as a whole.

The remaining objections made under appellant's Point VII are easily disposed of.

She complains that Finding No. 5 is not material—this relates at detail changes in his financial condition to entry of the decree. It was on matter of facts, put at issue by the pleadings. ((Tr. 036-043). The Court was entitled to find on it.

She charges that Finding No. 4 is not supported by the testimony. More examination of the evidence (B. of E. 2, 9, 12, 13 and 14) shows that not true, and conditions surrounding employment of a railroad brakeman are sufficiently a matter of general knowledge so that we submit that any reasonable person would know the finding to speak the truth.

The Conclusions of Law are all attacked: We admit that the first conclusion, based on the first finding and ruling in accordance therewith, that respondent was not in contempt because appellant had not charged him with it in her pleading, is not fortunately worded, but appellant admits in her proposed finding (Tr. 049) that, when that finding was submitted, these sums had been paid. And, as we shall see, his default in payments is not a material factor in this case. The other conclusions are supported by the findings, and are within the discretion of the trial judge.

Appellant does not point out in what respect the decree is not supported by the evidence, save as she has raised the point in prior argument, and we do not seem called upon to analyze that matter further. We submit that this point is not well taken.

POINT No. 2: THE COURT HAD POWER TO PUNISH SUCH CONDUCT AS CONTEMPT, AND DEPRIVATION OF APPELLANT OF THE RIGHT TO ENFORCE HER JUDGMENT FOR PAST DUE INSTALLMENTS WAS A PROPER PENALTY, WITHIN THE DISCRETIONARY POWER OF THE COURT.

Appellant under her Point II argues that the decree, providing for visitation "at reasonable times and places" was not breached by her acts, because that decree did not affirmatively forbid taking the children from the state and was too indefinite and uncertain on that point for its breach to be punished as contemptuous.

We concede that if the meaning of a decree is doubtful under a fair construction, a court may well hesitate to impose a penalty for a claimed breach, particularly where the consequences of adjudging contempt to have occurred might be serious. Just such a case was *In Re Vaughan*, (87 So. 792), which appellant cites, quoting at length (A. Br. 9) in her brief. The language quoted taken in its context, makes it obvious that the Court considered that the mother might well have thought, having remarried, her new husband a resident of another state, that the right of visitation might be "within her proper control" if given at her new home, so that the decree, with that proviso, was not sufficiently definite to make her conduct a wilful breach of its terms—nor does the Court rest on that but expresses its doubt that, even if in contempt, she should be prohibited from defending an attempt to take the custody of the child from her.

We do not say that there is not found language in decisions which seems to require an express prohibition against removal from the state before that removal is contemptuous. The text books reflect some uncertainty in this field:

"While the cases are not in complete accord, it appears generally to be the rule that if a wife is guilty of violating the provisions of an agreement between her husband and herself as to the custody of the children, the husband is relieved from making further payments for the support of such children, whether such payments are provided for in the agreement between the parties, or have been adopted in a subsequent decree of divorce. As in the case of the violation of the provisions

of an agreement, the authorities are not in agreement as to the effect of a violation by the former wife of the provisions of a divorce decree in respect of the custody of children on her right to recover payments provided by the decree for the support of the children." 17 Am. Jur. 536; Sect. 705.

Close examination of other cases cited by appellant upon this point detracts from their weight as authority. Much reliance is placed upon the Vaughan case (*supra*) and upon

Barnes v. Lee (Ore.) 275 Pac. 661, (Appl. Br. 10-11)

Campbell v. Campbell, 37 Wis. 206, (Appl. Br. 11-12)

yet the first, on close analysis, is very weak authority, and the second seems to support respondent and not appellant.

Lee, in the Oregon case, having won custody of a child in an Oklahoma divorce, with rights of custody reserved in the mother, came to Oregon with it. The mother, upon that ground, procured modification by the Oklahoma decree, giving her custody; and brought habeas corpus in Oregon. The court determines: (a) That the Oklahoma decree was "not entitled to full faith and credit so far as the question of custody is concerned;" (b) that "on the real question in the case, as to what would be best for the interests of the child" the trial court rightly determined that it should remain in the father's custody, and with "the real question" disposed of (c) said: "There was no disobedience of the order of the Oklahoma court in bringing the child with

him, so long as there was no provision in the order that she was not to be taken from the state.” Citing *Stetson v. Stetson*, (Me.) 15 A. 60, 61.

This last statement for which appellant cites it, is only dictum—since the case had previously been ruled on the first two grounds given—but the citation on which the Court relied shows that no real consideration had been given the question, and that the statement is uninformed dictum. For the *Stetson* case merely decides that, under a Maine statute, a trial court may place custody of the child of divorced parents in a non-resident custodian if its best interests demand, and the language relied on has reference to the Maine statute only.

The *Campbell* case says that the decree, not expressly prohibiting the custodian mother from removing the child from the state, she was not “in strict contempt” in so doing. Just what is “strict contempt” does not appear there, nor can we find a definition of it. It would seem the court must have meant some contempt for which no excuse might be received, for it goes on then to consider her conduct, says that the terms of the decree “fairly implied” that the father had been adjudged the right to make visits on his child at Milwaukee, the common domicile, chides the mother for “vindictively” telling him that he could see the child in Chicago; then points out that the child was sickly, that by removing it to Chicago, where she could give it better care, she had been able to nurse it back to health and doubtless had saved the child’s life, and adds:

“We must say that the necessities which pressed upon her and which she now pathetically pleads

for her conduct go very far to redeem her removal of the child from the implication of wanton disregard of her duty to the Court and the appellant.”

Without laboring the point too much, this seems good authority for the view that such a removal of the child from the jurisdiction, where the decree fairly implied that visits should be had, would have been wanton disregard of duty to the court—not a bad definition of contemptuous conduct—had it not been for the overbalancing excuse that it saved the child’s health and perhaps its life.

Examination of other cases cited by appellant under either Point II or IV, does not aid her contention. Those cases generally establish some point not here in dispute: For example:

In *Kane v. Kane*, (Mich.) 216 N.W. 438, the precise question raised in *Stetson v. Stetson* appeared. The father, under arrest in Windsor, Ontario, for non-support, jumped his bail, fled to Detroit, and four years later sued for divorce there. The mother crossed the river, defended, won custody and support money. The father appealed—his claim that a Michigan court lacked jurisdiction to order payment of support money to the non-resident custodian of a non-resident minor. The decision accurately states the law as to non-resident custody:

“Where proofs are convincing the welfare of the child demands the course taken, its custody may and should be awarded the non-resident parent notwithstanding the effect may be to defeat visitation by the resident parent.”

We submit the proofs in the instant case were neither convincing nor did they show a state of affairs which “demanded” defeat of the respondent’s right of visitation.

Other cases cited to this point were *Bedolfe v. Bedolfe*, (127 P. 594), a Washington case, and *Waldref, v. Waldref*, (159 N.W. 1068) a Minnesota case. The *Waldref* case held that a father who had deserted his family, been divorced without rights of visitation reserved, could not insist on a modification giving him rights of visitation where the evidence indicated that such visits would be detrimental to the health of one of the children. The court in the *Bedolfe* case, where the decree provided for visitation at “reasonable times during reasonable hours of the day”, said that the language was susceptible to interpretation as requiring that the child should be kept in the jurisdiction of the court of divorce; notes without passing on the matter that the lower court did not so interpret the decree, and determines that the welfare of the child would not be subserved by returning it to its Washington residence, with the maternal grandmother, but warns the father’s parents, where it was staying in Oregon, that they must treat the mother, when visiting the child, with civility under pain of loss of custody, or of contempt proceedings against the father.

Before presenting cases supporting our position, let us point out again the fundamental error appellant makes in her argument as to the penalty imposed upon her. The Court in this case did not in any wise modify the decree to eliminate past due installments of support moneys or alimony—the gist of appellant’s Point III.

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